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Map 1 Antarctica and the Southern Hemisphere
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Map 2 The Ross Sea region of Antarctica
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Map 3 Victoria Land, Antarctica, with locations mentioned in the text
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Map 4 The area of Evans Coves where Campbell’s party landed on 8 January 1912 to begin exploring. In autumn unexpected, intense winds began sweeping down the Reeves Glacier from the inland ice sheet, across Inexpressible Island, where Campbell and his men were living in an ice-cave. The satellite image on which this map is based shows these winds clearing the pack ice out to sea, almost blocking access to Terra Nova Bay, as occurred in 1912.
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Map 5 A satellite image of Ross Island, showing its relationship to the Ross Ice Shelf (‘the Barrier’), and extensive sea ice in McMurdo Sound




A for Antarctica, all frost, ice and snow
    the place where half witted explorers all go
B for the word they most frequently use
    though not, we admit, without frequent excuse.


Murray Levick, written inside the cover of his ice-cave diary, 1912





The British Antarctic Expedition 1910–13


Characters and locations


CAPTAIN ROBERT FALCON Scott listed everyone on his British Antarctic Expedition under two headings: ship and shore. Departing New Zealand for Antarctica in November 1910, his expedition vessel Terra Nova had fifty-nine people on board. Thirty-one moved on shore when the ship anchored against the ice in January 1911, leaving twenty-eight in the ship’s party to take Terra Nova exploring and then return to New Zealand. Scott set up his winter quarters hut at Cape Evans on Ross Island (see Maps 2 and 5), in the angle of ice-filled ocean where the massive ice shelf men called ‘the Barrier’ met the mountain ranges of Victoria Land. Scott’s aim was to try and achieve the South Pole, and almost everyone in the shore party contributed to that goal in one way or another.


In line with Scott’s long-planned objectives, the shore party was divided into an Eastern party and a Western party. The great majority, designated as the Western party, used the hut on Ross Island as their base. Those whom Scott selected to travel towards the Pole, in various supporting roles, became known as the Southern party, with the five who finally made the assault on the Pole being the Polar party. A small group of men detailed off to do geology on the Victoria Land coast (see Map 3), in the summer of 1911 and the summer of 1912, were designated Far West.


The Eastern party, consisting of six members, formed Scott’s ‘other expedition’, with the task of establishing a second base to explore and do science while Scott concentrated on the Pole. Within three weeks of arriving at Cape Evans the party left, supplied for one or two years’ isolation with their own equipment, hut, food and two ponies to pull sledges. Their long-planned goal was to discover the nature of the land terminating the eastern end of the Barrier ice shelf, discovered by Scott in 1902, during his first Antarctic expedition (see Map 2). Scott had named his discovery King Edward VII Land, after the son of Queen Victoria, but no one had yet managed to get ashore.


The Eastern party’s adventures and travels, in particular the long winter they spent at Evans Coves (see Maps 3 and 4), are the subject of this book. To everyone on Scott’s expedition in Antarctica, the Eastern party was always called the Eastern party, whatever happened to them, wherever they were, even when their plans changed and they were sent north. However, unknown to anyone in Antarctica, the Eastern party was re-designated in London as the ‘Northern party’. Perhaps a letter from Wilfred Bruce, Kathleen Scott’s bluff jovial brother, who served as a lieutenant on Terra Nova, initiated the change: ‘alas, no longer “Eastern!”’, he wrote to Kathleen, as Terra Nova took the Eastern party north. Terra Nova removed all the remaining members of Scott’s expedition from Antarctica in January 1913. The Eastern party now found that back in London they had been re-designated as the ‘Northern party’. The new name replaced the old in all published documents, reports and accounts of the expedition.


This book tells the story of the Eastern party, as it happened, drawing on the participants’ diaries and journals. It therefore uses the name ‘Eastern party’. As far as Lieutenant Victor Campbell, Dr Murray Levick, Raymond Priestley, Petty Officer George Abbott, Petty Officer Frank Browning and Seaman Harry Dickason were concerned, they were, as they sang in their Eastern party sledging song:


‘Captain Scott his Eastern Party & we’re going strong’.


Details of the Shore party, with their ages on the day of landing in Antarctica, Wednesday 4 January 1911, follow:


The Western party


Taken from the ship’s complement


Leader Captain Robert Falcon Scott CVO RN, known as ‘The Owner’, aged forty-two


Lieutenant Edward R. G. R. Evans RN, known as ‘Teddy’, aged twenty-nine


Lieutenant Henry R. Bowers RIM, known as ‘Birdie’, aged twenty-seven


Dr Edward L. Atkinson, Surgeon, RN, known as ‘Atch’, aged twenty-nine


Captain Lawrence E. G. Oates, 6th Inniskilling Dragoons, known as ‘Titus’, in charge of ponies, aged thirty


William Lashly, Chief Stoker, RN, aged forty-two


Robert Forde, Petty Officer, RN, aged thirty-five


Edgar Evans, Petty Officer, RN, aged thirty-four


Thomas Crean, Petty Officer, RN, aged thirty-three


Patrick Keohane, Petty Officer, RN, aged thirty-one


Thomas Clissold, Cook, RN, aged twenty-four


Frederick Hooper, Steward, RN, aged nineteen.


Scientists were led by the chief of the scientific staff, Dr Edward Adrian Wilson, zoologist, known as ‘Uncle Bill’, aged thirty-eight. They included:


Dr George C. Simpson, meteorologist, known as ‘Sunny Jim’, aged thirty-two


Charles S. Wright, physicist, known as ‘Silas’, aged twenty-three


Edward W. Nelson, biologist, known as ‘Marie’, aged twenty-seven


Apsley Cherry-Garrard, assistant zoologist, known as ‘Cherry’, aged twenty-five.


In addition, there were:


Cecil H. Meares, in charge of dogs, aged thirty-three


Herbert G. Ponting, camera artist, aged forty


Tryggve Gran, ski expert, aged twenty-one


Bernard C. Day, motor engineer, aged twenty-six


Demetri Gerof, dog-driver, aged twenty-two


Anton L. Omelchenko, assisting with ponies, aged twenty-seven.


The Far Western party at this stage consisted of:


Thomas Griffith Taylor, geologist, known as ‘Griff’, aged thirty


Frank Debenham, geologist, known as ‘Deb’, aged twenty-seven.


The Eastern party was made up of:


Lieutenant Victor L. Arbuthnot Campbell, RN, known as ‘the wicked mate’, aged thirty-five


Dr George Murray Levick, Surgeon, RN, known as ‘the Old Sport’ or ‘Tofferino’, aged thirty-three


Raymond E. Priestley, geologist, aged twenty-four


George Percy Abbott, Petty Officer, RN, nickname ‘Tiny’, aged thirty


Frank V. Browning, Petty Officer, RN, nickname ‘Rings’, aged twenty-eight


Harry Dickason, Able Seaman, RN, nickname ‘Dick’, aged twenty-five.


The ship’s party comprised three lieutenants – Harry L. L. Pennell RN, who took over the command of Terra Nova; Henry E. deP. Rennick RN; and Wilfred M. Bruce RNR, a brother of Scott’s wife, Kathleen. It also included Francis Drake RN, Assistant Paymaster.


There was one scientist: Dennis G. Lillie, biologist. Alfred B. Cheetham RNR was Boatswain.


Francis Davies, Leading Shipwright, RN, worked at key moments ashore. Walter William Archer, chief cook, RN, and Thomas S. Williamson, Petty Officer, RN, both joined the shore party for the 1912–13 season.


A further nineteen men were separately listed, as engineers, stokers, firemen, petty officers, able seamen and a steward. Leading Stoker Robert Brissenden drowned in New Zealand in 1911. Several men left the ship, to be replaced by others.





Antarctic expeditions relevant to this account


British Naval Expedition 1839–43
Captain James Clark Ross RN
HMS Erebus, HMS Terror


Belgian Antarctic Expedition 1897–9
Lieutenant Adrien de Gerlache
Belgica


British Antarctic Expedition 1898–1900
Carsten Borchgrevink
Southern Cross


British National Antarctic Expedition 1901–4
Lieutenant Robert Falcon Scott RN
Discovery


German Antarctic Expedition 1901–3
Professor Eric von Drygalski
Gauss


British Antarctic Expedition 1907–9
Lieutenant Ernest Shackleton
Nimrod


British Antarctic Expedition 1910–13
Captain Robert Falcon Scott
Terra Nova


Norwegian Antarctic Expedition 1910–12
Roald Amundsen
Fram


Japanese South Polar Expedition 1910–12
Lieutenant Nobu Shirase
Kainan-maru


Australasian Antarctic Expedition 1911–14
Dr Douglas Mawson
Aurora





Measurements and place-names


DISTANCES IN THIS book are given in the way they were used, and understood, by the men concerned: that is, in nautical, or geographic, miles. One hundred nautical miles equals approximately 115 statute miles, or 185 kilometres. A nautical mile relates to latitude.


Latitude is measured from the equator in degrees: from 0 degrees at the equator to 90 degrees north or south at each pole. Each degree is divided into sixty parts, called minutes. Each minute equals one nautical mile, so each degree of latitude equals 60 nautical miles.


To stay consistent with the measurements used at the time, this book uses feet and inches, gives weights in pounds, and temperature in Fahrenheit.


Place-names are those used by the people concerned: for example, ‘the Barrier’ for the Ross Ice Shelf. The maps in this book, specially prepared by the British Antarctic Survey, include only those places mentioned in the text, for ease of reference. However, several names – for example, ‘Terra Nova Bay’ for the bay north of the Drygalski Ice Tongue – are included to help with locating the areas concerned on current maps. All the specially prepared maps are based on satellite imagery. Two of them include pack ice, to give a sense of this all-important dimension to negotiating journeys.





Introduction


RAYMOND PRIESTLEY, TWENTY-FOUR years old but a veteran of Antarctic exploring, with the usual run of extreme experiences and side-stepping death that seems part of being in Antarctica, stands watching Captain Scott set off across the sea ice, accompanied by eleven men, twenty-six excited dogs and eight ponies – restive, passive, surly or pig-headed awful, depending on their already sorely revealed characteristics. Scott’s aim, to lay a depot of provisions as far south as manageable in the time available, is a key first step in his plans to achieve the South Pole the following summer.


Having grown up in the tight little cathedral town of Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire, Priestley thinks that the straggle of well-wishers is like a small town out for an airing. Earlier on this day, Thursday 26 January 1911, Priestley knocked off work in order to have a ‘general goodbye & good luck party’. All hands were called aft on the expedition ship Terra Nova for Captain Scott to say farewell, with the camera artist Herbert Ponting cinematographing Scott’s speech-making to the men lined up respectfully on the deck.


Now most of the ship’s company has filed out to see the depot party leave. Ponting, here to portray Scott’s expedition on film and glass plate negatives for audiences back home, is recording the departure. But theatrical moment turns to farce as Oates’s pony, Christopher, takes charge of his loaded sledge and overturns another. The chief of the scientific staff, Dr Edward Wilson, driving one of the two dog teams, with Scott, suffers a chaotic false start, with a dog being dragged along some distance under their sledge. Scott’s first Antarctic expedition, in 1901–4, and Ernest Shackleton’s in 1907–9, had both included sledge dogs, but neither leader trusted these unfamiliar animals. Scott is trying dogs again, in addition to ponies, which were considered to have been successful during Shackleton’s expedition. Priestley rather enjoys watching everyone trying to cope with the dog teams, especially the ‘amateurs’. He worked with ponies when he was here in Antarctica with Shackleton, and he liked exercising Shackleton’s under-used dogs.


‘Today has seen our first real separation when we saw the Depot Party off finally’, Priestley writes in his journal on the evening of the 26th, describing the mishaps of the departure with amused detachment, then getting on with his usual straightforward daily account of actions achieved. The morning was spent in the tedious task of watering the ship, collecting ice from the glacier for the ship’s freshwater tanks. Yesterday, Wednesday, he hauled sledge-loads of dog biscuits and pony fodder to make a depot for Scott’s party, while Captain Scott stayed on board Terra Nova writing letters. Last night Priestley spent chatting with Edgar ‘Taff’ Evans and Thomas Williamson, Petty Officers, who had been on Scott’s first Antarctic expedition. Priestley has generally kept quiet about his experiences on Shackleton’s expedition. It doesn’t do to talk about it. But, relaxing with the seamen in their quarters, he tells them what it was like being in the support party when Shackleton set out from this place in October 1908 on his attempt to reach the South Pole, with the ponies struggling through deep snow. Several of the men who had hoped to be chosen for the shore party but are staying on the ship gave Priestley presents of clothing they had brought in case of need. They like him. He’s quiet and straightforward.


Then Priestley has a good grumble in his journal. He is here in Antarctica as the Eastern party’s geologist, to explore King Edward VII Land, 500 miles to the east. The Eastern party will set up Scott’s second base, exploring and doing science while Scott tackles the South Pole. But Priestley and the other five members of the Eastern party have been working on behalf of Scott and the Pole attempt ever since they arrived, and they are still working. Priestley can’t wait to get away. Tomorrow, at last, Terra Nova will start taking them and their 30 tons of stores and equipment east. Finally, the Eastern party will be on their own.


Raymond Priestley used his detailed daily journals as the source for his book, published in 1914, about the adventures of the Eastern party; by then, however, the Eastern party had become known as the Northern party, so Priestley had changed the name. Chapter 1 of Priestley’s book, Antarctic Adventure, opened with two paragraphs that welded start and final ending. A thoughtful, appropriately moving farewell scene now graced the departure of Scott and his depot party, because – unknown, of course, to anyone at the time – this had turned out to be a final farewell. No one in the Eastern party ever saw Captain Scott again.


Priestley’s Antarctic Adventure was invested and shaped from the first words with perpetual hindsight. The tragedy that was to befall Scott and his four companions in the final Polar party was established from the beginning as the defining event, the lens through which the whole expedition was to be perceived.


On the 26th of January, 1911, a little group of men stood together on the sea ice . . . Six, at any rate, of those who are alive today are destined to have that scene engraved on their memories for the remainder of their lives . . . and though no forebodings disturbed the serenity of the parting, it was ordained that we should never set eyes again on five of the men whom we were proud to number among our friends . . . The scene of the start was indeed a lively one . . . Captain Scott himself is saying good-bye to Campbell, the leader of the Northern Party, and giving him parting advice, discussing with him the prospect of securing good winter quarters . . . The time given for leave-taking soon passes, and we stand cheering, hat in hand, while the cavalcade files off southward across the sea ice, while in the hearts of all of us must ring, as they do still in mine, the words of our leader as he wished each of us good fortune and thanked us for what we had done already towards making the expedition a success.


An air of nostalgia and poignancy hangs over ‘the words of our leader’ – words that Priestley did not record in his diary at the time. Nor were they recorded by Lieutenant Victor Campbell, sparsely built and spare with words, outwardly martinet, inwardly thoughtful, whose brief career in the Navy had been replaced by the pleasures of summers in Norway, fishing and sketching; nor by Dr Murray Levick, the Eastern party’s large ex-rugby-playing naval surgeon, devoted to competitive sport, and writing at the least a novel during the months ahead. Perhaps it was because, according to Levick, Scott’s ‘little speech’ was ‘made [to] the men of the ship’. The Eastern party’s three naval ratings – handsome, upright Petty Officer George Abbott, Petty Officer Frank Browning, a torpedo expert raised on a Devon farm, and the alert young Londoner Able Seaman Harry Dickason – did give brief matter-of-fact summaries in their journals. But by definition no one knew what lay ahead. Current, and previous, experience was all.


Absent from Priestley’s book are his wry amusement at the rather chaotic departure, his feelings of frustration about the way the Eastern party’s work was being subordinated to the requirements of the attempt on the Pole, the references to his experiences as one of Shackleton’s men. Missing too is any mention of his companionable conversations with Petty Officer Evans, one of the five men to die, who did not in fact depart with the depot party but stayed on the ship another day, to accompany the geological party as guide and instructor on their first summer expedition to Victoria Land. Instead, the ultimate tragedy established the criteria, layers of post hoc significance anointing events previously innocent of emotional loading, editing away now inappropriate detail of semi-confusion and humdrum reality.


The death of Captain Scott on the return from the Pole, with the deaths of his companions Dr Wilson, Captain Oates, Lieutenant Bowers and Petty Officer Evans, reset the clock of the entire expedition. Once the tent, almost buried by snow, was discovered with the bodies inside, skin yellow and glassy, frozen with the kind of brutal finality that meant Scott’s arm, when it was moved to retrieve his journal, cracked with a gunshot report as the bone snapped; once the last brave, poignant letters were read, and the journals and diaries, with their complex layering of things said, things left out; and once Scott’s telling of the journey, that extraordinary, painful, powerful piece of writing, began to work: once what had happened became known, then accounts of the expedition ran to a different beat. The deaths wrenched perspectives from their moorings. Increasingly, the story focused on the single narrative that ended in tragedy and heroism. It became a drama with a central cast, a one-track setting, a reduced timeline.


The tragedy came to overshadow everything that occurred to the other members of Scott’s British Antarctic Expedition 1910–13, or the Terra Nova Expedition – the two names were used interchangeably. The expedition became known as ‘Scott’s Last Expedition’, the finality of that title all-defining, casting its shadow backwards, gripping events, narrowing and sharpening the plot. Accounts of what happened shifted to take account of what was to happen. Writing, and thinking, accreted ‘hindsight bias’: understandable, unavoidable but insidious. No one wished to challenge the overriding narrative, to dislodge the tone and beat of the powerful and moving story that had swept into the imaginations of a world audience.


At the heart of Scott’s expedition is a tragedy. But alongside it there is also positive, life-affirming success. The five men of the final Polar party died. But the six men of Scott’s other expedition, the Eastern party, ‘Campbell & Co.’, as Scott’s lively brother-in-law Lieutenant Wilfred Bruce called them, got through extraordinary adventures and hardship. Theirs is one of the great tales of survival. It runs parallel to Scott and the Polar party, an essential part of Scott’s expedition, woven into the very fabric of the planning and the outcome.


The story of Campbell and his men is told here as the events happen, in real time. Staying with the moment, the participants, by definition, only know what they can know. They plan, worry, speculate, make decisions, according to their understanding, as each day unfolds. Enough of the diaries and journals, sledging and field notebooks, lists, instructions and letters, photographs and drawings, survive to be able to create a sense of what it was like for Campbell and his men to be there, exploring and coping, on Scott’s expedition; to let the participants tell the story themselves. My aim has been to avoid hindsight and, as far as I can, judgements. To let the expedition rebalance. Freed from the burden of the tragedy that descended on the Polar party, released from the post hoc grip that tightened around the narrative, the story of six of Scott’s other heroes assumes its proper place.


Most of my research for this book was done at the Scott Polar Research Institute in Cambridge, immersed in the primary source material month after privileged month, smelling the bitter smoke absorbed from the blubber fires still infusing the pages of Levick’s ice-cave diaries, seeing the dirty whorls of thumbprints holding down the pages, reading the complete run of Priestley’s rough diaries – the unedited words, written on the day. Comparing unedited versions with later fair copies, looking always for the reality of time and place. Finding that, the more I read, the more intimately the accounts interleaved, and discovering how, unexpectedly, various parts of the expedition kept coming together and informing each other. ‘Anyone’, Nelson Mandela has said, ‘who has explored the world of archives will know that it is a treasure house, one that is full of surprises, crossing paths, dead ends, painful reminders and unanswered questions.’


History is writing about what is, fiction about what is not. Fiction can be more doctrinal than history, because the historian is weighed down by facts: the ‘sticky clay of history’. Part of the ‘sticky clay’ is the range of participants. ‘Numerous voices need to be heard’: essential to listen to but not always easy to find. The Eastern party, made up half of ‘officers’ and half of ‘men’, has a particular draw. The voices of all six members can be heard.


This story also has another element. Antarctica, the place, is central. I have added my voice to descriptions of the landscape, animals, events and circumstances, drawing on my own experience of working on the continent, and on board polar research ships, selected as a writer on a range of Antarctic Artists and Writers programmes. Travelling from beyond Cape North, in the west, to beyond the Bay of Whales, in the east – that great right-angle of coast discovered by Captain James Clark Ross RN in 1841 – I have visited the precise landscapes that held the Eastern party.





1
It must be an Englishman


It is one of the symptoms of this age of nerves and hysteria that we magnify everything, that our boasts are frantic and our scares pitiable, that we call a man who plays well in a football match a hero, and that all successes are triumphs . . . but . . . when we are all feeling a little downhearted at seeing our supremacy in sport and in more serious matters slipping away from us, it is a moral tonic to find that in exploration we are still the kings of the world.


The Sketch (26 March 1909)


IN 1771 SAMUEL Hearne, a young Hudson Bay official, described being guided across the snows and frozen lakes of northern Canada by a group led by a Chipewyan chief he called Matonabbee. Women, Matonabbee told Hearne, were the only way to get loads moved in this kind of country. One woman could carry, or haul, as much as two men, and travelling any considerable distance, or for any length of time, without their help was not possible. Women also dressed the meat, prepared it for eating, pitched the tents, made and mended the clothing, found fuel and kept the men warm at night. And the expense of maintaining them was trifling. They cooked, so they could subsist in scarce times by licking their fingers. Matonabbee used seven wives to drag his sledges during the seven-month journey. When the terrain made sledges unusable, the women shifted the loads on to their backs. Hearne noted in his journal that Matonabbee’s wives were selected for strength. The men, he wrote, looked for wives to be broad of shoulder, sturdy of leg.


The requirements for travelling in the southern polar regions were substantially the same as those for Matonabbee and his wives in the north: tents for camping, food and cooking utensils, fuel, bedding, warm clothing, adequate footwear, axes, knives and weapons. Like Hearne, travellers in Antarctica also needed to carry navigating instruments, diaries, books, maps and writing implements. In the Canadian north the land yielded much of what was required for a journey. In the Antarctic there was no timber to make tent-poles and sledges and frames for snowshoes, no birch bark and wood for canoes, no dry moss to burn as fuel. Animals for food, fuel and skins could be found only along the coasts, and most were summer visitors. There were none inland, where men yearned to go.


But women as beasts of burden were not an option in the southern polar regions. There were no indigenous people at all, and never had been: no one to coerce, flatter or persuade with trade goods or newly acquired Christianity, no one to act as porter or bearer and carry the necessities of survival. There were not even any local animals to capture and use as burden carriers, although Japanese explorers, on seeing emperor penguins, did briefly joke about using them instead of sledge dogs. The largest land-living all-the-year-round animal in Antarctica turned out to be a 2-millimetre-long mite. The largest plants were thumb-high.


Explorers travelling to Antarctica had to transport from their metropolitan centres, or collect from colonial outposts en route, every single thing they needed or might need. The necessities for survival had first to be loaded into ships, transported south across the world’s stormiest ocean, then unloaded on to ice or land. Logistics were central to all plans, and the issue demanded constant attention. Expedition ships as carriers plus containers were ideal bases from which to explore. But once men landed ashore, the intractable problem was moving away from base. However pruned down, however fretted over, enough basic supplies to maintain life, and efficient work, had to be carried. Man in Antarctica was a snail creeping along with his house on his back. Either he introduced animals to drag and carry or he looked to the industrial leadership of the Western world – the remarkable innovations in transport – and tried adapting them to ice and snow: motorized sledges, a tracked motor car, even an aeroplane. Or man became the pack animal, carrying his load or dragging it behind him on a sledge.


The absence of indigenous people had other impacts. Explorers had always, where possible, used local informants, reluctant or willing, to assist as pilots for sea journeys or guides over land: key moments in the transfer of knowledge, the gaining of those ‘hard won fragments’ to fit on to the map of the world. In Antarctica explorers could not draw on oral traditions: there were no tales of mountain passes, no insider knowledge to fillet out concerning seasonal variation and animal behaviour or the vagaries of weather and climate. There was no chance to observe local survival techniques: ways of living off the land or management of wind, water and ice. Antarctica was tabula rasa. This unknown land demanded no understanding of foreign ways or languages. It required no money, passports or negotiations with officials. There were no police, no laws, no armies, no rules and regulations. No markets or bazaars, no roads, no foreign diseases to catch or avoid. No children or old people. No females at all. Explorers were on their own. They had to make decisions, and act, according to their understanding of the appropriate ways to solve problems. Exclusively male, they arrived carrying their sense of themselves, their sense of their nationalities, and their place in society, in their minds. Confident that challenges were there to be met and overcome, their only points of comparison were each other.


Captain Robert Falcon Scott listed his latest thinking about ways to shift loads in an eight-page illustrated pamphlet published on 15 September 1909, setting out the objectives of his new expedition to Antarctica. The startling news had just been released that two Americans had separately and competitively claimed the achievement of being first at the North Pole. The main object of his expedition, Scott stated, was ‘to reach the South Pole and to secure for the British Empire the honour of that achievement’. A serving naval officer specializing in torpedo warfare, broad chest, trim figure, and ambition like permanent sandpaper rasping at his inner thoughts, Scott had been grappling for many months with the problems of transport. Now he proposed three solutions. Ponies, Scott wrote, had delivered ‘brilliant results’ hauling sledges over the ice in the first stage of Ernest Shackleton’s recent attempt on the South Pole, and he intended using them as draught animals, along with dogs. But the best hope lay in technical innovation. Shackleton had taken one motor car, but its performance had been limited. Scott had been trialling a prototype of a motor sledge in Norway. Motors had the advantage of requiring no food when not in use. Ponies and dogs ate whether working or not.


A fourth option was not listed because it was taken for granted. British explorers in the northern polar regions had a long tradition of pulling their own sledges. No load-carrying wives capable of carrying 200 lb of weight, but the noble joy of harnessing up and swinging along, a team of men pulling together. The British Arctic tradition had been transferred south with Scott on his first expedition. For Scott, regardless of the other possible means of transport, there was always man-hauling.


The desire did not need restating, or the ambition justifying. To get south, to the Pole. To stand where the earth spun on its axis. But crucially, to be the first. ‘You shall go to the S Pole’, the sculptor Kathleen Bruce wrote in her big, vigorous handwriting in thick blue ink on a single sheet of notepaper in July 1908, in the exciting months after Robert Falcon Scott asked her to marry him, ‘oh dear whats the use of having energy & enterprize if a little thing like that cant be done’.


Scott had made an initial, halting, trek south across the ice in the direction of the South Pole in the summer of 1902–3, as a 34-year-old Royal Navy lieutenant leading his first expedition. In company with Ernest Shackleton, a 29-year-old Irish-born Merchant Navy lieutenant who in deep, husky tones, dark eyes flashing, could quote poetry by the half-hour, and Edward Wilson, thirty, a physician from the comfortable town of Cheltenham with a preference for zoology, watercolour painting and ascetic Christianity, Scott had discovered a range of mountains with glaciers mighty beyond belief spilling their loads on to the seemingly endless ice plain. Standing at their farthest south, the three men had no way of knowing whether the magnificent mountains continued on or even whether the Pole, still another 400 miles away, was situated on land. The South Pole might in fact be in an ice-covered sea, like the North Pole in the Arctic. Yet, in spite of exhaustion, despite semi-starvation and suffering symptoms of scurvy, the three men were captured. Antarctica was almost totally unknown, untouched, but they had experienced its beauty and mystery, its ferocity and challenge. Antarctica drew them in, attached itself to their very beings. It was harsh, unforgiving, careless. But it became an integral part of their desires and their ambitions.


Scott had established his expedition in the great right-angle of ocean, ice and rock discovered sixty years earlier by Captain James Clark Ross RN. Ross, an experienced navigator in Arctic waters and the first to reach the North Magnetic Pole, found a sea here in the south unexpectedly free from pack ice, its western edge a mountain-rimmed coast he named Victoria Land, after the young Queen Victoria. Sailing further south than anyone had ever managed, Ross saw a glaring white line across his route that became an extraordinary wall – ‘Britannia’s Barrier’, he called it – sheer continuous cliffs of ice rising high above his ships’ masts. Where the Victoria Land coast met the wall of ice, an island with two volcanoes was discovered: one extinct, one exotically alive. Ross called the live volcano spewing fire and smoke into the frigid white world Mount Erebus, after his sturdy wooden ship, built to bombard harbours with fiery destruction from its heavy guns, and the elegant cone of the other volcano Mount Terror, after his second ship. The southernmost stretch of water bounded by the island and by Victoria Land, Ross named McMurdo Bay, after the first lieutenant on Terror. Then he took his two ships east along the wall of ice cliffs until, glimpsing the possibility of land ahead, he was stopped by heavy pack ice from exploring any further. Returning to the northern entrance to his sea, Ross tried sailing west along a mountainous coast, naming a wide scoop of bay after the surgeon on Terror, John Robertson, an inlet in the harsh coast after the mate of Erebus, Alexander Smith, and – thick pack blocking his ships – a snow-capped bluff, the furthest west feature he could see, Cape North. Marking the entrance to his sea, Ross had found a bold cape like a northward-pointing limb, with plunging cliffs of dark rock, which he named Cape Adare. Where so much in the south polar regions was speculation, Ross had achieved a magnificent sweep of known coast.


In 1899 the explorer Carsten Borchgrevink, whose father was Norwegian and whose mother was English, landed with nine men on a beach at Cape Adare and built a hut. He and his men became the first to winter on the Antarctic continent and the first to use dogs and skis. Next summer they sailed south down the Victoria Land coast, made the first landing on Ross’s mighty Barrier and achieved the first (short) journeys south across the ice. ‘To my mind’, Borchgrevink wrote in his book First on the Antarctic Continent, ‘the big barrier . . . is nothing more than the northern extremity of a great ice sheet sloping northwards from land near the South Pole . . . With a sufficient number of reindeer, sledges and dogs, and a very small party of scientific men, I believe that a great southern latitude may be reached on this ice-sheet.’ Borchgrevink, funded by a British newspaper proprietor, driven and determined to explore the unknown continent of Antarctica, infuriated members of the British establishment. They considered that he was using resources that ought to have been available for the expedition about to set out under Lieutenant Scott, and Borchgrevink’s achievements were minimized.


Scott openly took his expedition ship Discovery where others had been. Arriving at Ross’s Barrier in January 1902, he worked east, discovering – where Ross had indicated the possibility – low, snow-covered hills and several patches of bare rock. Scott named the new territory King Edward VII Land, then turned back to an inlet in the Barrier face, perhaps where Borchgrevink had come ashore and made his brief dash to the south. Here, on 4 February, Scott climbed into the wicker basket slung beneath a gas balloon and ascended, to gaze across an apparently level surface of ice. Shackleton went up even higher, before the balloon was declared unsafe and abandoned.


Ross’s McMurdo Bay turned out to be a sound, and here, on the southern tip of the island Ross had discovered, with smoke streaming from the crater of Mount Erebus, Scott established his expedition base. Small parties of men were sent out to start tackling the mountains and glaciers of Victoria Land while Scott, Wilson and Shackleton made the first three-month-long attempt to travel south over the exhausting expanse of the Barrier.


Scott considered the long sweep and curve of coast first discovered by his naval predecessor Ross to be a peculiarly British preserve. Extend Ross’s vast quadrant of sea, ice and rock to its logical conclusion – fix its point on the South Pole – and the Pole, it seemed obvious, although not to all, must be achieved by an Englishman. But for Scott a kind of visceral possessiveness grew. During his first expedition he had explored swathes of territory, a remarkable achievement, although he had planned to encompass even more. Now he considered that it was all his to continue exploring. He had, he thought, a ‘sort of right’ to the entire region, a natural priority, a ‘prior claim’. Privately, but unshakeably, he staked out the details in his mind’s eye. There was work still to do, and, emphatically, it was his to do. In particular, the Pole waited, the route begun by him, the journey uncompleted.


But the pull of Antarctica could not be confined. The very emotions that captured Scott also captured others. The mix of passions and desires, the indefinable seductions, the mark on the soul, differed from man to man. In each person they touched, the ambition to achieve, for self, or country, or loved ones, to pit oneself against all that Antarctica could do, grew and grew. Whatever the dream – to discover land or untapped resources, new life forms or evidence of ancient life and climates; to climb untouched mountains, or understand the workings of ice. To lead an expedition and not be led. To get to the South Pole first.


Scott’s sense of shock when Ernest Shackleton exhibited the Antarctic passion in 1907 was deep. Shackleton, invalided back to Britain after that terrible first journey across the Barrier with Scott and Wilson, had devoted himself to raising sufficient financial backing to announce his own expedition, with the explicit intention of reaching the South Geographic Pole from a base on Ross Island. A party would also try to achieve the South Magnetic Pole. A third party, according to the plans published in the journal of the Royal Geographical Society, would travel east across the Barrier to explore King Edward VII Land (where an authorized post office would be opened to sell stamps), while a winter party would observe the breeding of the emperor penguins. Finally Shackleton proposed to explore by ship the unknown coast west of Cape North, where Ross had turned back. The long-established business of ‘scientific voyaging’, which had sent ships and men across the seas to every part of the world, was well understood. Science and geographical discovery were appropriate and expected components of expedition objectives, and Shackleton had included a respectable quantity – generally similar to Scott’s aspirations on the Discovery expedition – as well as the hope of finding mineral resources. But above all, and openly, Shackleton was driven by the desire to get to the Pole.


Scott – his personal space so crudely invaded, as he saw it, by a man whom he considered his subordinate officer, his physical space under threat – brought to bear the powerful weapons of gentlemanly conduct: the sense of honour and fairness. Scott had not made any declaration in public that he wished, or intended, to return to Antarctica. He had set no date and made very few plans. Shackleton protested that he had had no inkling of Scott’s desires. He, Shackleton, would be departing within months, and the backing he had achieved depended on his attempt on the Pole.


Using Dr Edward Wilson, their mutual friend, as mediator, Scott deployed a restrained moral outrage, couched in polite but increasingly non-negotiable phrases, overlaid by reminders of the duty owed to a former commander. Scott defined his sphere in a series of letters. He claimed not only the right to complete the journey he had started towards the Pole, and turned back from, in 1903, but much more: ‘of course . . . I want to clear up all the other parts we left in doubt – the geology of Victoria Land and its extension beyond C. North.’ A private promise was agreed that Shackleton would leave McMurdo Sound to Scott. Yielding to months of pressure, Shackleton acknowledged a territorial claim of significant proportions and signed a letter of agreement on 17 May 1907, only weeks before his expedition was due to depart: ‘I shall not touch the coast of Victoria land at all.’ He would, in the phrases drafted for him to sign, ‘rigidly adhere to’ what had been agreed. Scott had achieved what he considered only his due.


But the realities of exploring in this harshest of environments forced Shackleton to break his promise to establish his winter quarters either on the Barrier, at the inlet where the balloon ascents had been made, or on King Edward VII Land, as agreed. His ship and men at risk from further delay and his resources of time and coal stretched to the limit, Shackleton with heavy heart turned to the forbidden space, Ross Island. The alternative – failing his backers, letting down each man on his expedition, returning to Britain without even landing – was unthinkable. Having unloaded everything ashore on a rocky cape 20 miles further north than Scott’s old base, Shackleton’s ship Nimrod departed north for the winter.


Scott was incensed when news of Shackleton’s ‘unanswerable breach of faith’ reached him. He declared his contempt for Shackleton as a professed liar. Key people were sent a copy of the letter of agreement. But in March 1909 news cabled through from the southern hemisphere brought an astonishing revelation: exploring on from the furthest south reached under Scott’s command, Shackleton, it was announced, had got within 97 miles of the South Pole. The journey pioneered a route up a vast glacier on to a high cold plateau, with four men dragging their barest necessities on a wooden sledge, struggling for breath at the unexpected altitude, shivering in their thin tent, bitterly hungry. After all the speculation, this awful anonymity of emptiness, the glaring, relentless whiteness, the surface sculpted into sharp-edged ridges by chilling, debilitating winds, seemed to be a heart-diminishing location for the South Pole. Exhausted, short of their goal, Shackleton and his companions had barely managed to stagger back to safety. Suffering and yet surviving, having had the courage to turn away and give up.


Shackleton’s near-miss turned the imaginary but nevertheless real point where every direction pointed north, where the sun never set for six months and never rose for the next six, where nothing lived and no one had ever been, into a graspable goal. The South Pole could be achieved. Getting there first mattered. Desire could no longer be corralled as one man’s prerogative. Pole-getting had moved beyond privately nursed ambitions or personal rivalries kept to the inner circle of controlled and controlling players. Technological revolutions in the speed and means of communicating turned Pole-attaining into public performances, the stuff of popular news with high consumer appeal, no longer confined to discussions in key societies, strategically placed articles and speeches to certain institutions but dangerous and splendid, glamorous and heroic, the stuff of the penny press, the illustrated weeklies, of news cabled around the world.


‘Darling do you know what haunts me – haunts me – never altogether leaves me’, Kathleen Scott wrote, much later. ‘It is your little grey face . . . that I met at the Station the day you came up from your ship after the Shackleton news came.’ Shackleton returned home in June 1909 a national, and imperial, hero, swept up in waves of emotional and patriotic fervour, with the public eager to follow his every move. Genial, restlessly energetic, a racy raconteur, attracting schemes and ideas, Shackleton’s presence added a dimension of uncertainty for Scott, who had still made no public announcement that he intended leading a new Antarctic expedition. Shackleton claimed that he had no immediate plans, but could he be trusted not to return to Antarctica and complete the Pole journey? Scott felt the need once again to protect his clearly enunciated rights to territory: Shackleton must acknowledge that he, Scott, had unfinished Antarctic business.


The ‘Scott–Shackleton difficulty’ exercised the Council of the Royal Geographical Society. Admiral Sir Lewis Beaumont, the Vice-President, reminded the President, Major Leonard Darwin, of the self-evident truth that expeditions to Antarctica should be, and remain part of, the important business of geographical discovery. The Society ‘would not encourage or support an expedition merely intended to reach the Pole’, he wrote on 19 June 1909. Shackleton would probably go for it again, but Scott should not ‘try to compete with Shackleton on a Pole-hunting expedition’. If Scott wanted to return to Antarctica, let him lead a ‘scientific expedition into new regions . . . with exploration and the Pole as secondary objects’. Anyone going over Shackleton’s old route would make no new discoveries, and Scott would be making ‘a very great mistake’ if he competed with Shackleton ‘merely to do that 97 miles’.


Once more Wilson tackled Shackleton on Scott’s behalf, reminding him of the miserable business of his broken promise in going to McMurdo Sound.


My opinion as you know was that you ought to have thrown up the whole show . . . You took Scott’s job practically out of his hands against his wish & knowing that he was hoping to finish it. Frankly admit that you have had your turn . . . No one but you can at the present moment clear the way for Scott. But you can, & what’s more to the point, you should. Play the game now by him as he has played the game by you.


Scott and Shackleton maintained a visibly polite relationship. On 1 July Scott wrote a precise formal letter to Shackleton:


If, as I understand, it does not cut across any future plan of yours, I propose to organize the Expedition to the Ross Sea, which, as you know, I have had so long in preparation so as to start next year . . . My plan is to establish a base in King Edward Land and to push South and East . . . I should be glad to have your assurance that I am not disconcerting any plan of your own.


‘I understand that you have already your expedition in preparation,’ replied Shackleton on 6 July,


and it will not interfere with any plans of mine . . . I wish you every success in your endeavour to penetrate the ice and to land on King Edward VII Land and attain a high latitude from that base. I quite agree with you that good geographical work can be done from that quarter, and it will have a newer interest than McMurdo Sound.


The focus of the correspondence was on King Edward VII Land, but Shackleton by acquiescing was in effect renouncing any claim to return to that redolent corner of the Ross Sea where Barrier ice met the Victoria Land coast in the dramatic evocative landscape of Ross Island and the smoking Mount Erebus.


Privately, Wilson was contemptuous of Shackleton, unable to forgive the man who had been his close companion. ‘I am afraid that he has become a regular wrong’un’, he wrote to a friend in August 1909. ‘I have broken with him completely and for good, having told him in a somewhat detailed letter exactly what I thought of him and his whole business. I consider he has dragged Polar Exploration generally in the mud of his own limited and rather low down ambitions.’


Needing to present ‘a more scientific expedition than Pole hunting’, Scott had assembled a raft of ideas, which he presented in a letter to Darwin: ‘the plan. . . provides . . . for the scientific exploration of a considerable extent of the Antarctic continent and will therefore I hope commend itself to the Royal Geographical Society.’ Scott’s interest in geographical discovery and science was deep and genuine. But getting to the Pole was the overriding objective. In the pamphlet formally announcing his expedition, in September 1909, Scott listed a range of ‘scientific objectives’, at the same time adroitly folding in achieving the Pole with discovery and exploration. He would establish two bases: one at McMurdo Sound, the other ‘breaking new ground’ far to the east, in King Edward VII Land. The proposed sledge journey to the Pole could start from either, but the map he included showed a straight line from the unknown region of King Edward VII Land to the Pole, obstacles unknown, so discounted.


Initial euphoria about quick dashes was leavened with reality when, in early November 1909, Shackleton’s account of his Pole attempt was published, revealing the desperate details of an immensely hard journey. But despite appeals to patriotism, Scott’s fund-raising continued to be sluggish. Geographical discovery and the doing of science were resource-hungry, and reaching the Pole in the most efficient way became paramount. Scott decided to make his attempt on the Pole from Ross Island, using Shackleton’s route. The exploration of King Edward VII Land – a key move in the visible doing of discovery and science – was now transferred to an independent party, separately equipped, under its own commander. A central piece of delegating, this exploring party would depart soon after the shore party had landed in Antarctica, to establish a second base in King Edward VII Land. Operating in parallel with the polar push, the independent party could not be large. Scott’s plans for his ‘attack on the Pole’ would use a lot of men. But that end-point of Scott’s right-angle of coast, the eastern marker of his domain, would be secured by what Scott now called the Eastern party, in anticipation, and proof of intent.


But these were heated times. The Antarctic passion bred plans for the remaining Pole with audacious aims and uncertain funding. Contenders announced schemes in bursts of publicity: American challenges, a possible Belgian expedition, a Japanese attempt. ‘It would be deeply regrettable’, stated a Times leader on 13 September 1909, the day Scott’s new expedition was made public, ‘if . . . the brilliant record of British Antarctic exploration were . . . to be checked, with the inevitable probability . . . that the Pole would first be reached by an explorer of another nation.’ The Daily Mail wrote the same day: ‘The people of this country have not been accustomed to take second place in any field of human endeavour . . . the South Pole alone remains our sphere of action. A race for it is certain in the immediate future.’ The New York correspondent of the Daily Telegraph, describing a craze for polar enterprise, warned that an American expedition could at any moment ‘be quietly organised and be under way before the world at large is taken into America’s confidence’. Everyone realized, he reported, that such an expedition, ‘secretly planned’, was possible.


The Antarctic passion delivered to Captain Scott, unexpectedly, a tall and coolly handsome young man who walked one January morning in 1910 into the crowded offices of the British Antarctic Expedition in Victoria Street, just along from the Army & Navy Stores, those purveyors of imperial necessities, and said that, no, he wasn’t there to enlist as a member of Scott’s expedition, nor was he interested in a large salary. He would even turn down the offer Scott immediately made, of being one of three to form the final Pole party for the final dash. The young man was tanned with the Australian summer he had just been enjoying. He was confident, having only eleven months previously completed the longest unsupported Antarctic sledging journey so far, when, as part of Shackleton’s expedition, he and two companions achieved the South Magnetic Pole, or at least got as close to it as was possible to calculate. He was tough, hard and immensely strong: all the qualities Scott looked for. He was also a scientist. He was even that useful thing, given the expedition’s intention to raise funds in the colonies, a colonial. Douglas Mawson’s parents had taken him from Yorkshire to Australia as a two-year-old; but, as Raymond Priestley, who had shared Shackleton’s hut with him in Antarctica, said, Mawson was ‘first, last and all the time’ Australian.


What Mawson did want was for Scott to listen to an idea. Antarctica, as so far understood, was represented on maps as a roundish blob, a presumed – though unverified – continent. The map as challenge and mystery: a dotted line indicating what was guessed, a solid line what was known. Evidence of action, proof of achievement. Each fragment of filled-in coast represented long ocean voyages from northern hemisphere to southern, from metropolitan centre to the outer limits, from civilization to utter lack. Then, once arrived, critical journeys, on foot, from local bases, temporary structures in the empty immensity, out into the unknown. Each success represented the essential phase still to come, news brought back from the periphery to the centre, to committees and societies, newspaper accounts and lecture audiences, to books published, charts examined, scientific collections studied, measurements checked, articles and reports written. Data in place. Both Scott and Mawson had intimate experience of some of the lines on the map. Both had added to them.


For three hours Mawson talked to Scott about the advantages of exploring the unknown ‘northern’ coast that lay directly south of Australia: glimpses achieved seventy-odd years earlier from one landing only, in 1840, for a few hours. Otherwise 2,000 miles of not knowing stretched from Cape North, the farthest west that James Clark Ross had reached in 1841, to Gaussberg, discovered by a German expedition in 1902. Mawson was enthusiastic, serious, finger-jabbing: ‘I ask him, has he thought of the coast W of Cape Adare. He said that he had not.’ Only a year earlier Mawson had got within 100 miles of this unknown coast, sledge-hauling up from the south-east across the high icy plateau, to the site of the South Magnetic Pole. If Scott would land him and a party of three carefully picked men at Cape Adare, or wherever it was convenient to land him further to the west, then, said Mawson, he would sign up to his expedition. Valuable scientific data could be obtained in the Cape Adare area, with the possibility of mineral resources. Mawson proposed to lead a party exploring from what would be a second base for Scott, contributing to the results of the main expedition. Scott, noted Mawson, ‘was much interested in it, and said he would go into the matter’.


Scott prided himself on his strength and fitness. A little less than average height, at forty-one his face might smudge with tiredness, but his eyes, extraordinarily violet-blue, could challenge and hold. Capable of immense charm, Scott was at the top of his game. Douglas Mawson, ‘six feet three in his socks’, at twenty-seven a lecturer in mineralogy at the University of Adelaide, with intense blue eyes that could warm, or coolly assess, was openly ambitious: the newcomer, beginning to mount an assault. Scott pressed Mawson, putting him down as a member of his expedition, to be confirmed in three weeks.


On his return Mawson found Scott sitting with his trusted confidant Dr Edward Wilson, now head of the expedition’s scientific staff. ‘I did not like Dr Wilson’, Mawson noted flatly in his log. The expedition’s resources, said Scott, were tied up with achieving the South Pole and with a second expedition to King Edward VII Land, already being organized by its leader, Lieutenant Victor Campbell. Scott therefore turned down Mawson’s proposal to explore the unknown northern coast of Antarctica with a small landing party. Mawson countered that he would do it himself. Scott ‘now took up a defensive attitude . . . He stated that it had always been his intention to do what he could around the north coast but could promise nothing.’


Mawson thought that Scott had listened to his ideas and then decided to incorporate them into his own plans: ‘picking the plums out of the north coast by a boat reconnaissance’ when his ship left at the end of summer, scooping up discoveries by sea. But this was disingenuous. Exploring the northern coast was an established ambition. Mawson had been with Shackleton when Nimrod tried but failed to achieve it on the way out from Antarctica less than a year earlier. Scott himself had tried and failed in Discovery in 1904. Claiming priority of ideas was an arbitrary business in this continent, where vast ambitions, stated with sweeping confidence, were part of the game. Ideas were picked up, left aside. Or, if attempted, nipped by the constraints of reality.


Scott took Mawson home to meet his attractive, persuasive, strong-minded wife, Kathleen, on 26 January, hoping to convince Mawson to change his mind and enlist on his expedition. Scott’s technique with young men who had plans for their own Antarctic expeditions was, if relevant, to incorporate them and their ideas. Lieutenant Teddy Evans had given up a scheme to establish winter quarters in King Edward VII Land and explore south, to become at the age of twenty-eight Scott’s high-energy, enthusiastic second-in-command, bringing with him his fund-raising contacts. Evans had already travelled to Antarctica as second officer on one of the ships sent south to help relieve Scott on his first expedition.


Mawson explained his ideas to his former leader, Shackleton, drawing a map of Antarctica with proposed routes and bases marked in for discovery, exploration and science. There was also the powerful pull of resources, that long-acknowledged hope of minerals in this last undiscovered land mass. Mawson had been instructed by Shackleton to search for minerals after achieving the Magnetic Pole, but there had not been time. Now, encouraged by Shackleton, and using the Nimrod office in Regent Street, Mawson planned an independent expedition along the unknown coast. One day Shackleton ‘came in early to the office . . . and said to me: “I have decided to go to the coast west of Cape Adare and you are to be Chief Scientist. I hope you will agree to this”.’ Although taken aback, Mawson said he thought Shackleton had ‘fully realised the value of the expedition and now wished to run it’. Shackleton claimed ‘he could lay his hands on about £70,000’ and took Mawson to meet an old friend and supporter, the steel magnate Gerald Lysaght, in Somerset. Mawson, all infectious grin and sharp intellect, talked to the industrialist for five hours, after which Lysaght promised £10,000 to the expedition. Shackleton had embarked on a complex dance with old steps, linking Mawson into existing rivalries and polar ambitions, mixed with Shackleton’s search for financial security and fame.


‘What do you think of this news. Does it matter – Is it a hoax to keep Mawson’, Kathleen wrote in agitation to Scott, ‘What is at the bottom of it.’ She had met Mawson again by chance in a telegraph office and had a long talk with him. ‘I asked whether it was an absolute certainty, and Mawson said that Shackleton had said he could not draw back now he’d got too much money.’ But things were not as bad as they might be. The idea was to go the following year. ‘My little heart aches for my dear . . . worrier. Still the more there is to strive against the more worth while succeeding. Damn Shackleton. God bless you K.’


Shackleton informed Scott, the Royal Geographical Society and the Royal Society about his new expedition on 21 February 1910. It was a ‘purely Scientific’ proposal. There was no intention to go near the Pole. ‘I am particularly anxious’, Shackleton wrote to Scott, ‘not to clash with your Expedition, nor in any way to hinder your pecuniary activities.’ His expedition would do only science, and geographical exploration of the unknown north coast of Antarctica, from the most easterly, Cape Adare, to the farthest west, Gaussberg, and would not leave ‘until about a year after you have sailed for the South’. After releasing an outline in the Daily Mail on 18 March 1910, Shackleton left on an American lecture tour to raise sorely needed funds to pay off debts outstanding from his previous expedition.


To Scott both ends of Ross’s long sweep of coastline were his to deal with, if he wished: lebensraum of the mind. The more geographical and scientific work he could say he was aiming to achieve, the better. A good run of discoveries would bring credit to his expedition. They could counter negative comments in the geographical world, and sometimes the press, that a proper balance had not been achieved between geographical discoveries, with the massive amount of unexplored territory waiting in Antarctica, and what was perceived as an ‘arid’ push for the Pole, which would result in less than 100 miles of new land. Campbell’s party, exploring King Edward VII Land to the east, would add a strong piece of geographical work to the British Antarctic Expedition’s balance sheet. But exploring to the west along the unknown coast should happen as well. There was in addition the real, by definition unrepeatable, pleasure of filling in blanks on the chart, of solving geographical problems, as expressed so passionately by Douglas Mawson. But Mawson was now, it appeared, allied to Shackleton.


Scott and Shackleton had argued over the uncharted north coast to the west of Ross’s discoveries three years earlier, during the difficult discussions limiting Shackleton’s movements. ‘I . . . consider that the unknown land . . . is free to anybody who wishes to explore that part’, Shackleton had written. ‘I do not look upon either Wood Bay or the land to the West of Cape North as being within the Province of any particular previous expedition.’ Scott now turned Shackleton’s argument to his advantage. On 29 March 1910 he wrote to the President of the Royal Geographical Society, Major Leonard Darwin, seeking to clear the way for his actions: there should be open access, irrespective of any prior proposals to send expeditions or explore, he proposed.


I think Shackleton wants the coast from Cape North to Gaussberg left alone for him in 1911, I have no objection to his going there but I don’t want any objection from him to my going there. I have always wished to retreat round Cape North for a second season and possibly to establish meteorological stations on that coast . . . I want it so settled before I leave that I am free to go where I please without the reproach that I am trespassing on his ground. Will you give the matter some thought from this point of view?’


The Royal Geographical Society had just distributed a non-official letter to 3,250 Fellows asking for contributions to fund Scott in his ‘primary object to complete the work of penetrating the Antarctic Regions to the South Pole, which he had begun and which had been so well advanced by Sir Ernest Shackleton’. Since it was now known that American and German expeditions were competing for the same prize, ‘this gives Captain Scott’s Expedition a more distinctly national character than it had before, and should stimulate British contributors.’


As requested, Major Darwin gave some thought to the matter Scott raised. He sent his conclusions to Shackleton in a letter dated 29 April 1910.


My dear Shackleton
As I know from both you and Scott that some correspondence has taken place between you with reference to the regions which you propose to explore, perhaps I may be allowed to make one or two brief observations thereon before either of you are hidden in the ice.
   In my opinion, every explorer should in future be at liberty to go exactly where he likes, without, at all events, any liability to an accusation of breach of faith. This being adopted as a general principle, then in addition to this it would be no doubt very advantageous if explorers would discuss how best to partition the work amongst themselves so as to avoid overlapping as far as possible. But the result of such negotiations should not involve more than a statement of what each intends to adopt, but which each can abandon at any time at all.
   These are my views, which though uncalled for by either party, perhaps I may be permitted to mention.


Yours sincerely,
Leonard Darwin


Darwin’s letter took account of the current reality. Exclusion zones were not internationally practicable, and the Royal Geographical Society had a significant international standing. But Darwin went further. The principle he enunciated was stated in such a way as to apply not only to the area Scott had raised in his letter but in all cases, and to every explorer. An explorer could choose to go anywhere and to discuss it, or not, with other explorers with similar desires. If, having discussed it, he stated an intention, the intention could be abandoned at any point.


In truth, landing in Antarctica was proving exceptionally difficult; there was pressure on the few usable landing places so far discovered, and repetitive use was unavoidable. A known and proven landing place was more than just a given point on a chart. In the great uncertainties of Antarctica a landing place represented an archive of existing knowledge: routes, resources, reliability. But it also represented the experiences of those who had used it, and, as such, carried emotional content; hence powerful feelings of competitiveness and possessiveness were aroused.


Scott was about to describe his expedition plans in a speech to the Fellows of the Royal Geographical Society. Shackleton’s intentions, however, were still far from clear. Mawson tracked him to the middle of America in the middle of May 1910. Late one night in a hotel room in Omaha, Nebraska, Mawson drafted a letter of agreement and intention, using both sides of a single sheet of paper, corrected it and then wrote it out and got Shackleton to sign that he would pay Mawson the salary and expenses he owed him for work already undertaken, that he intended to proceed with the expedition to explore west of Cape Adare, and that Mawson would be in charge if he decided not to command it, but that Shackleton would still help to raise the necessary funds for equipment.


In London, Scott’s expedition ship Terra Nova was due to depart in two weeks’ time. An old Dundee whaler, three-masted, refitted at speed, with auxiliary engines and expedition experience, grease scraped out, paint slapped on, holds disinfected, bunks added and an icehouse built, she had been loaded with as many of the necessary stores and equipment as men, working immensely long hours, had been able to assemble. Lieutenant Evans would command the ship as far as Australia. Scott needed to stay behind, raising money and dealing with the almost crushing mass of details still requiring his attention.


For Scott, getting south was a series of objectives, of tasks to be dealt with. There was a relentlessness to his task-oriented, task-driven approach, of tension constantly replenished, of release constantly deferred. As each task was finished, so the next pressed. Each one was embedded in varying degrees of analysis but also in assumptions, hopes and, as Scott saw it, his luck. Some tasks depended on the performance of individuals. Here judgement was central. Some could be delegated. Some depended utterly on the physical world: on the chances of weather, temperature, seasonal variation, on how much snow, how little, what type, on quantities and quality of sea ice, on blizzards and how long they lasted. But the Antarctic world was barely known, the physical realities still only fleetingly experienced, with no way yet of establishing suitable or reliable parameters. Scott was renowned for hard work, but he was also impatient. The Antarctic world was uncertain and by definition unpredictable.


On his first expedition all had been new, the options unknown. Now the objectives were clear and unyielding. Before, he had had everything to learn. With little preparation, still less any long-held or hidden desire to explore, least of all in the polar regions, Scott had been catapulted into his first command and success. Now he was experienced. He had studied widely and thought long before committing himself to key decisions. Transport, equipment, clothing, food, numbers of men, numbers of depots, weights and quantities, time-frames – these were the keys. But if the Pole was not achieved first time, another attempt had to be made, because to Scott, and to those involved in the planning and funding of the expedition, it seemed clear that without the Pole all other achievements, including the science, would be reckoned at a discount. With the Pole they would gain lustre and gravitas.


Scott stood before his audience at the Royal Geographical Society. In appropriately thoughtful but elevated language he presented the task of aiming for the Pole as a new national enterprise. ‘There is something more than mere sentiment, something more than an appeal to our sporting instinct in its attainment; it appeals to our national pride and the maintenance of great traditions, and its quest becomes an outward visible sign that we are still a nation able and willing to undertake difficult enterprises.’ The task was hard, the outcome uncertain; the Pole might well not be achieved in the first year.


Talk of the ‘mere last 97 miles’ – the repetitive nature of a known route – had entirely disappeared. Discreet but inevitably damaging questioning of Shackleton’s statement about the final distances achieved on the polar plateau had been initiated. Scott was privately sceptical. His only reference, for those in the know, was the merest glancing prod: ‘The general public, whose knowledge . . . is derived from the sensational press, can count success only in degrees of latitude, and hitherto it has been content to accept little more than bare assertion in support of such claims.’ The expedition that had immediately preceded his was not otherwise alluded to.


The Eastern party, Scott told his audience, was a key part of his expedition strategy. Exploring King Edward VII Land justified ‘a great effort in the attempt’. But the announcement was hedged around with verbal provisos. The small Eastern party would ‘have to face the unknown severity of a winter in one of the most inhospitable parts of the Antarctic regions’ and ‘unknown difficulties and dangers in the journeys they undertake’. ‘I realize’, said Scott, ‘that this part of my plan is beset with difficulties.’ The Eastern party would be landed ‘if open seas are to be found’, but even then ‘a suitable wintering-place may not be found, and even if found, the difficulty of landing stores remains’.


In contrast, only one proviso constrained the announcement of a second strand of exploring. Once the Eastern party had been landed, the expedition ship Terra Nova would ‘reconnoitre’ the coastline west of Cape North as far as Adélie Land ‘with a view to landing parties upon it on a future occasion’. Scott had rejected Mawson’s proposal to be landed with a small party on this coast, citing lack of resources. Shackleton had picked up the plans, publicly announcing his intention to lead the expedition. Scott now stated his intention to examine – a year ahead of Shackleton and Mawson – a thousand miles of this unknown coast.


Scott concluded his speech by outlining the dates and details of the attempt on the Pole, and the science he hoped to achieve. The difficulties, the struggles, the likelihood of changes of plan, the possibility of unpredictable, unexpected results, the importance of the science – all had been fixed in his listeners’ minds. An overarching narrative, laid out in advance of the action.


The three great qualities leading to success, Major Darwin informed the guests at a farewell luncheon in London the day before Terra Nova left, were experience, the determination to win the prize sought for, and absolute confidence between leader and led. Captain Scott had all three. He had obtained all the information he possibly could from other Arctic and Antarctic travellers. He and his staff meant ‘to do or die’. But as to how far south the expedition would reach, the difficulties were ‘simply immense’.


‘Captain Scott is going to prove once again that the manhood of the nation is not dead, and that the characteristics of our ancestors, who won this great empire, still flourish amongst us’, Darwin said. And everyone stood, to drink a toast to ‘Success to the Antarctic Expedition, and good luck to its leader’.





2
Leaving London


1 June–30 September 1910


Captain Scott, with the experience of three centuries to draw upon, and a complete knowledge of the arduous nature of the task, will have the best equipment that science and forethought can provide.


Travel & Exploration (March 1910)


DURING THE FIRST two weeks of June, Scott’s expedition ship, Terra Nova, pottered along the southern coast of England from London round to final farewells at Cardiff, in Wales. A succession of last chances to get ashore and have a night’s enjoyment, shop, say farewell to friends and family. More seriously, as Captain Scott reminded all hands at a meeting aft, this was the last chance for every man to make his will. ‘The will was a big item for me,’ commented Petty Officer George Percy Abbott cheerfully, ‘my sum totum being three shillings and four pence in the Bank, & a Bike.’ All Petty Officers had signed on as Able Seamen, at £6 a month. Abbott, with Petty Officer Frank Browning and Able Seaman Harry Dickason, already friends, missed the last boat off to the ship at Stokes Bay but boarded next morning with a small black kitten scooped up from The Anchor public house, as Terra Nova got under way, towards Cowes.
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